Public Document Pack

NHS

_ Southampton Cit
Sﬂ”THﬁJ‘L[HGh Clinical Commissioning Grou%

CITY COUNCIL &
Joint Commissioning Board
Thursday, 21st October,

2021
at 9.30 am

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING

COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC CENTRE

This meeting is open to the public
Members

Councillor Fitzhenry
Councillor P Baillie
Councillor White

Dr S Young

Suki Sitaram
Stephanie Ramsey

Please send apologies to:

Angela Murrell, Board Administrator,
Tel: 08703163513

Email: angela.murrell@nhs.net



PUBLIC INFORMATION

Role of the Joint Commissioning
Board

The Board has been established by the
City Council and Clinical Commissioning
Group to commission health and social
care in the City of Southampton. It will
encourage collaborative planning,
ensure achievement of strategic
objectives and provide assurance to the
governing bodies of the partners of the
integrated commissioning fund on the
progress and outcomes of the work of
the integrated commissioning function

Public Representations

Save where an Item has been resolved
to be confidential in accordance with the
Council’s Constitution or the Freedom of
Information Act 2000, at the discretion
of the Chair, members of the public may
address the meeting about any report
on the agenda for the meeting in which
they have a relevant interest.

Benefits from Integrated
Commissioning

e Using integrated commissioning to
drive provider integration and
service innovation.

e Improving the efficiency of
commissioned services

e Increasing the effectiveness of
commissioning — across the whole
of the commissioning cycle.

Smoking policy — the Council and
Clinical Commissioning Group operates a
no-smoking policy in all of its buildings.

Mobile Telephones — please turn off your
mobile telephone whilst in the meeting.

Fire Procedure —in the event of a fire or
other emergency an alarm will sound and
you will be advised by lofficers what
action to take.

Access — access is available for the
disabled. Please contact the Support
Officer who will help to make any
necessary arrangements.

CONDUCT OF MEETING

Terms of Reference

The terms of reference of the Board are
contained in the Council’'s Constitution
and the Clinical Commissioning Group
Governance Arrangements.

Rules of Procedure

Business to be discussed
Only those items listed on the attached

agenda may be considered at this
meeting.

Quorum



The meeting is governed by the Council The minimum number of appointed

Procedure Rules as set out in Part 4 of  Members required to be in attendance to

the Constitution. hold the meeting is 4 with a minimum of 2
from the City Council and the Clinical
Commissioning Group.

Disclosure of Interests

A conflict of interest occurs where an individual’s ability to exercise judgement, or act

in arole is, could be, or is seen to be impaired or otherwise influenced by his or her

involvement in another role or relationship

AGENDA

Agendas and papers are now available online at
www.southampton.gov.uk/council/meeting-papers

1 WELCOME AND APOLOGIES

Lead Item For: Attachment
Discussion
Decision
Information

Chair Information None

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

A conflict of interest occurs where an individual’'s ability to exercise judgement, or act in a role is, could
be, or is seen to be impaired or otherwise influenced by his or her involvement in another role or

relationship

Lead Item For: Attachment
Discussion
Decision
Information

Chair Information None

3 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING/ ACTION TRACKER (Pages 1 - 4)

Lead Item For: Attachment
Discussion
Decision
Information

Chair Decision Attached




4 PHOENIX @ PAUSE SOUTHAMPTON: BUSINESS CASE FOR A SUSTAINED
SERVICE (Pages 5 - 68)

Lead Item For: Attachment
Discussion
Decision
Information

Donna Chapman Decision Attached

Wednesday, 13 October 2021 Service Director Legal and Business Operations



Agenda Iltem 3
NHS|

Hampshire, Southampton and
Isle of Wight

Clinical Commissioning Group

SOUTHAMPTON
CITY COUNCIL ®

Meeting Minutes

Joint Commissioning Board — Public

The meeting was held on Thursday 16" September 2021, 09:30 - 10:30
Council Chamber, Civic Centre Southampton

Present: INITIAL TITLE ORG
Sarah Young SY Clinical Director HSIOWCCG
Councillor Daniel Clir Leader (Chair) SCC
Fitzhenry Fitzhenry
Sandy Hopkins SH Chief Executive SCC
Stephanie Ramsey SR Director of Quality and HSIOW CCG/
Integration/Managing SCC
Director
Councillor lvan Clir White  Cabinet Member — Health SCC
White and Adult Social Care
Donna Chapman DC Deputy Director Integrated HSIOW CCG /
Commissioning Unit ScC
Kay Rothwell KR Deputy Director for HSIOW CCG
Finance
Suki Sitaram SS Lay Member for HSIOW CCG
Southampton
Chris Pelletier CP Deputy Director HSIOW CCG/
Southampton Integrated SCC
Commissioning Unit
Sharon Stewart SS SCC
Paul Ring PR Finance Business Parthner SCC
In
attendance:
Claire Heather CH Senior Democratic SCC
Support Officer
Jamie Schofield JS Senior Commissioning HSIOW CCG/
Manager SCC
Angela Murrell AM Executive PA HSIOW CCG
(minutes)
Apologies: Guy Van Dichele GVD Executive Director SCC
Wellbeing (Health &
Adults)
Councillor Peter Clir Baillie  Cabinet Member — SCC
Baillie Children’s Social Care
Beccy Willis BW Head of Governance HSIOW CCG
Matt Stevens MS Lay Member HSIOW CCG
Maggie Maclsaac MM Chief Executive Officer HSIOW CCG

Page 1



Action:
Welcome and Apologies

Members were welcomed to the meeting.
Apologies were noted and accepted

Declarations of Interest

A conflict of interest occurs where an individual’s ability to exercise
judgement, or act in aroleis, could be, or is seen to be impaired or
otherwise influenced by his or her involvement in another role or
relationship

No declarations were made above those already on the Conflict of
Interest register.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting/Action Tracker

The minutes from the previous meeting dated 19" August 2021 were
agreed as an accurate reflection of the meeting.

Matters Arising
There were no matters arising.

Hospital Discharge Operational Model and Home first Discharge to
Assess (D2A)

The Board received the Hospital Discharge Operational Model and Home
First Discharge to Assess paper. DC stated the paper is here today for
the Joint Commissioning Board to support the overall direction of travel
and to support the proposal of how to allocate the funding for the
remaining 6 months of this year.

JS talked through some of the key points. JS explained that the model
was built on the changes brought about as result of Covid, due to the
legislation that changed the timescales and approaches associated with
hospital discharge.

JS commented that the Governments direction is towards home first care.
JS stated that there are challenges with recruiting home care staff.

Cllr White raised that some people are being discharged into “a stepdown
bed, stating that the person should be being assessed in their discharge
place.

JS explained that some people are easier to assess in nursing homes.
JS stated that getting people home gives a better chance of them staying
home.

ClIr White queried was it more money or staff that is needed

JS responded it is mainly having staff working consistently as a system,
JS stated that a key area will be to develop the workforce, particularly the
domiciliary care workforce.

Page 2



SS raised if it was being too ambitious to think the current workforce
issues will be resolved in 12 months
JS recognised that this is a big challenge.

SY commented that hospitals are not the right environment and support
patients being discharged to home. SY queried if any measures are in
place for any potential impact this may have on primary care.

ClIr Fitzhenry commented that tapping into the community partners may
help to resolve some of the challenges.

A general conversation took place.

SH raised if data sharing for the community model was effective and is
there anything blocking the sharing of the data. SH also raised if there
was an opportunity to consider the use of democracy of that community
model by utilising Ward Councillors who could act as catalysts in
combination with community organisations and data.

JS responded and stated that there may be some information sharing
barriers.

SY stated this highlights the importance of a partnership model.

The Board supported the recommendations.
Performance Report

The Board received the Performance report. SR stated that one of the
roles of the Joint Commissioning Board is to oversee the effectiveness of
the work that the integrated commissioning team is undertaking and
support the achievement of the business plan that has been agreed as a
Joint Commissioning Board.

DC highlighted the transformational change and system redesign work,
which has a focus on 2 key areas:-

e Integration — integrating services and pathways

e Early intervention.

DC highlighted some key developments:-

¢ Re-tendering services — IAPT tender has been recently tendered
and is currently being evaluated.

e Tenders going out in the autumn for Housing related support
services and domestic violence services.

¢ A new tender for mental health men’s service user network

¢ Additional grant funding has been made available, which includes
a rough sleepers grant, a substance misuse support service
grant,

o Additional funding for children services.

CP talked through the procurement and market management section of
the plan highlighting the following key points:-
e Home care market management — making the best use of in
growing the supply of extra care housing in the city.
e Re shaping and growing the supply of nursing care
e At the end of quarter 1 all projects are on track

Page 3



o Key achievement — successful reopening of the home care
framework

e A pilot has been started with Hampshire Care Association to
support the ICU to test new ways of working together with the
local care market.

e Have secured consensus amongst the 18 local authorities that
make up the south east, children’s residential care commissioning
consortium to extend the life of the consortium and the associated
framework agreement for another 3 years.

CP highlighted some key challenges

o Workforce shortage in the care sector — action plan is in place to

address this challenge.

SY queried if there was a focus on the high intensity users pathway
DC responded that this is a key focus.
CliIr Fitzhenry queried who sets the objectives/projects and how
frequently are they reviewed.
CP responded that it is the Joint Commissioning Board who sets them
and they are reviewed on quarterly basis.

SR stated we are now back on track with quarterly reporting and quarter
2 will be at the November meeting.

Action — CH to set up meeting to discuss governance/project
planning to include, Clir Fitzhenry, SR, SH CH

The Board noted the Performance Report.
Date of Next Meeting

16" September 2021 09:30 — 10:30

Page 4



Agenda Item 4

DECISION-MAKER: | CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SOCIAL CARE FOLLOWING
CONSULTATION WITH JOINT COMMISSIONING BOARD

CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE
FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH JOINT COMMISSIONING BOARD

SUBJECT: PHOENIX @ PAUSE SOUTHAMPTON: BUSINESS CASE FOR A
SUSTAINED SERVICE

DATE OF 21 OCTOBER 2021

DECISION:

REPORT OF: EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR WELLBEING (CHILDREN AND LEARNING)

CONTACT DETAILS

AUTHOR: Name:| Donna Chapman/ | Tel:| N/A
Steph Murray

E-mail] d.chapmanl@nhs.net
steph.murray@southampton.gov.uk

Director Name: | Robert Henderson | Tel:| N/A

E-mail] Robert.henderson@southampton.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY

Not applicable

BRIEF SUMMARY

Joint Commissioning Board (JCB) is being asked to approve a business case to fund the continuation
of Phoenix @ Pause Southampton post 2021/22. Phoenix @ Pause is a post-care proceedings service
for women at risk of repeated child removal which has been piloted over the last 18 months. Itis
provided by Children’s Services within Southampton City Council with input from a range of partners —
including rapid and appropriate access to Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) via the Solent
Sexual health services, close links with the Dorset Healthcare Trust Steps to Wellbeing Service
(Improving Access to Psychological Therapy - IAPT), and close working relationships with Police and
Probation Services, Domestic Abuse Services, Drug and Alcohol provision and Housing Related
Support providers. The service seeks to support women who are at risk of repeated removal of
children into care, to take more control of their lives and address their multiple unmet needs and
difficulties; and as a result, both improve outcomes for women and their children and reduce the
number of children taken into care.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

(i) | For JCB to note and support the business case (attached at Appendix 1).

(i) | For the Cabinet Member for Children’s Social Care to approve recurring funding from the
Children’s Services budget of £142,500 per annum in 2022/23 towards the total annual costs of
£285,000 to continue the service beyond the end date of February 2022 (with increased
investment up to £245,100 pa from 2023/24 onwards to further expand the service (subject to
an evaluation of impact and potential need) in future years).

(ii)| For the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care to approve recurring funding from the

Public Health budget of £142,500 per . annum towards the total annual cost of £285,000 to
Fageo



mailto:d.chapman1@nhs.net
mailto:steph.murray@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Robert.henderson@southampton.gov.uk

continue the service beyond the end date of February 2022.

(iv)] For the Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to
approve recurring funding of up to £71,288 per annum from the CCG budget to commission a
trauma informed therapeutic pathway specifically for those women who are part of the Phoenix
@ Pause Southampton service.

RE

ASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS

Southampton has consistently exhibited high rates of looked after children (LAC). In 2020,
Southampton had a LAC rate of 95 per 10,000 children, significantly higher than the England
average of 67 per 10,000 children and significantly higher than the South East average of 53 per
10,000. This trend can also be observed in relation to removals in under 5-year olds, with
Southampton having the second highest rate in the South East (49 per 10,000 children compared to
a national average of 35 per 10,000 and South East average of 28 per 10,000) and the 9th highest
rate in relation to CIPFA nearest neighbours. Regarding the rate of infant care entry in 2019-20 (the
most recent year for which data are available) Southampton had the highest rate for the previous 9
years, at 156 per 10,000 children aged under one.

Research indicates that outcomes for LAC are worse than for those of other children. Difficulties and
negative behaviours can also translate into similar experiences for the children of LAC, creating an
intergenerational cycle of challenges and adverse outcomes. There is also evidence to show that
children who have been in care and therefore more likely to have experienced more adverse
childhood experiences (ACEs) are more likely to suffer poor longer term adult outcomes including
experience of the criminal justice system, homelessness, serious mental health and substance
misuse issues as well as diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer, which can
lead to premature death. Indeed, Pause research found that women with multiple children removed
are 36 times more likely to die prematurely than age-matched women in the general population

Pause seeks to address these issues by intervening to break the cycle of repeated child removal
and entry into the care system. In areas where Pause has operated continuously for 5 years, the
most recent national evaluation of Pause (2020) calculates that the number of infants entering care
was reduced by an average of 14 per year, per local authority.

In Southampton the decision to pilot a “Pause” model (Phoenix @ Pause Southampton) was agreed
in 2019/20 as an invest to save initiative in view of Southampton’s high rates of LAC and infant care
entry with short term funding from Public health, Children’s Services and the CCG. The service start
date was delayed by COVID and recruitment challenges but went live in September 2020. In the
time since its launch on 1st September 2020, the Phoenix @ Pause service has engaged 21
women.

Each Pause programme cycle has a duration of 21-months: 3 months of assertive outreach with
women and then 18 months to work with those women that choose to engage. After the first 21
months of operation, the national evaluation suggests an average reduction of 11 children not going
into the care system due to Pause. Phoenix @ Pause therefore has the potential to have a
significant impact in reducing Southampton’s rates and numbers of looked after children as well as
improving life outcomes for vulnerable women and their children.

However, the greater benefits associated with this programme are likely to accrue over time and it is
expected that over 5 years a Pause service in Southampton would:

e Significantly improve the health and wellbeing, wider outcomes, and inequalities in life
chances for women supported by the programme, a large proportion of whom are care

experienced;

Page 6




e Reduce at-risk children in the city, and children being removed into care;

e Avoid total cumulative costs of £6,444,076, which begin to accrue from Year 2 (against a
cumulative delivery cost of £1,425,000 (based on £285,000 per annum).

e Confer a net cumulative cost avoidance of £5,019,076.
Further detail on cost benefit analysis can be found in the Business Case at Appendix 1.

The original funding for the pilot however is due to come to an end on 28 February 2022 and so
there is an imperative now to agree future funding to continue the service and accrue the benefits it
brings.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

8.

Three other options were considered and rejected. The options and reasons why they were
discarded are summarised below:

e Continue but as a Phoenix Team, relinquishing the association with the national Pause
programme

o This would mean loss of the benefits of being part of the successful national Pause
model, loss of being part of a wider national network with access to training packages,
shared learning and data systems and no longer being part of national evaluation and
research

e Do nothing — cease provision

o This would result in the current service ceasing thereby impacting on the 21 women
already in the programme as well as those who would potentially benefit in future

o It also loses the potential to achieve improved outcomes and multiple LAC, health and
wellbeing and invest to save financial advantages

e Cease Service and instead provide assertive outreach from within existing services

o Existing services are already stretched and would lack the capacity to provide the
focus required to target and engage this cohort of women, many of whom are already
disengaged and disenchanted with the health and care system. Current experience
suggests that without a dedicated team and workers this cohort of women do not
engage consistently and comprehensively with existing services

DETAIL

Pause is a national non-governmental organisation that began operating in 2013 to support women
at risk of repeated child removal. The service describes itself as:

“Through an intense programme of support, [Pause] aims to break this cycle and give women the
opportunity to reflect, tackle destructive patterns of behaviour, and to develop new skills and
responses that can help them create a more positive future. In doing so, [the aim is] to prevent the
damaging consequences of thousands more children being taken into care.”

Fundamental to the Pause model is the relationship between the woman and a Pause practitioner,
which is secure and consistent, and both nurturing and challenging - and provides the basis for
increasing the woman’s sense of value and self-worth, and for breaking destructive cycles. This
approach can be described as a long-term (18 month) trauma-informed relationship intervention. In
order to enable a woman to focus on herself and her own needs, Pause ask women to commit to a
pause in pregnancy, facilitated by an informed choice about an effective and acceptable method of

3
Page 7




contraception, supported by close working with local sexual health services. Since its inception in
2013, Pause has become a national evidence-based programme that works with Local Authorities
and other partners to set up services locally to break the cycle of repeat pregnancies that result in
further babies being taken into care.

10.

Phoenix @ Pause’ Southampton went live in September 2020 as a pilot jointly funded between

the Council (Public Health and Children’s Services) and CCG. The service is based on the national
Pause model and delivered through SCC Children’s Services.

11.

Specific objectives of the Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service were to:

o Support a cohort (‘community’) of women at risk of repeated removal of children into care, to
take more control of their lives and address their multiple unmet needs and difficulties;

o Support the women to take an 18-month ‘pause’ in pregnancy — such that the women and their
service providers can focus on addressing the women’s needs, and as a result break a cycle of
repeat pregnancies that result in children being removed and taken into care;

o As a result, reduce the number of children taken into care and reduce pressure on the looked
after children’s budget; as an invest-to-save initiative.

12.

Forty-nine women were originally prioritised for assertive outreach and 21 signed up to the
programme (which has capacity for 24 women). Between them, the 21 women had previously had
72 children removed from their care, an average of 3.3 children per woman, ranging from 2 — 7
children. 8 of the women had previously themselves been Looked After Children. 94% of the 21
women had mental health needs, 50% housing needs, 64% were engaged in drug use and 44% in
alcohol use, and 83% of the women were either in a violent relationship or had been recently.

13.

Since the start of the programme in September 2020, key highlights in relation to activity and
outcomes have been:

e Getting the women to engage with other services such as AA, No Limits, the Drug and
Alcohol Service, Domestic Violence Services and counselling.

e A new Pathway with Steps 2 Wellbeing (IAPT) has been established to support women
access psychological therapies

e Supporting 18 women to get LARC and follow up on sexual health treatment

e Supporting a number of the women into more settled accommodation (One who was
previously homeless into private rented accommodation, one into housing related support
accommodation, one into a council flat)

¢ Positive feedback from other services working with the women commenting on how well they
are doing.

14.

It is important that ongoing funding is now found to sustain the service and contribute to:
e A permanent reduction in at-risk children in Southampton (a strategic priority);

e Improved outcomes for this group of women and future cohorts, with regard to their: health
and wellbeing, housing situation, employment and skills, financial position, social wellbeing,
and self-efficacy;

e Reduction in inequalities in life chances for women in this cohort, a large proportion of who

4
Page 8




are care experienced,;
e Fewer pregnancies; specifically, pregnancies resulting in babies being removed into care;

e Cost avoidance, due to: reduction in repeat child removals, lower risk of children born with
specific health and care needs (e.g. due to maternal addiction), and a shift from unplanned
and crisis care use to planned use of health and other services by women receiving support.

Details of the cost benefit analysis can be found in Section 6 of the Business Case at Appendix 1;
applying the Pause national evidence base, we could expect to see a reduction in the number of
infants entering care of up to 10 children after 21 months and up to 13 per annum after 5 years by
working with the current cohort of 21 women. In future, with further cohorts of 24 women, there
could be a further reduction of 11 children entering care after 21 months and 14 per annum after 5
years.

A core set of metrics will be developed to reflect the benefits identified above and performance of
the service will be monitored on a regular basis against these metrics. A detailed evaluation will be
undertaken at the end of each year to evidence impact and identify where there is potential to
further target, enhance or develop the service.

15.

In addition to sustaining the current service and funding, it is recommended that the service is
enhanced to provide rapid access to trauma-informed therapy. Many of the women within the
service have suffered serious sexual or physical childhood traumas, domestic abuse and very poor
attachment, developmental delay and many more life difficulties. Whilst pathways are in place with
mental health services, the Phoenix @ Pause team have identified two major issues that are
currently preventing women from accessing the mental health intervention that they require. The first
issue is the lack of trauma informed therapy and the second is the lack of rapid access to
appropriate support, either owing to mainstream Adult Mental Health (AMH) Service capacity
resulting in waiting lists or because the women’s needs do not meet the AMH criteria. The IAPT
pathway delivered by Steps to Wellbeing has been a positive development; however for some the
intervention is too “low level” and not specific enough to meet their needs. For these women it is
proposed to develop a specific trauma informed therapy pathway as an appropriate alternative
mental health intervention. This will offer a compassionate and empathic trauma informed response
in the form of therapy and psych-educational intervention, comprising both 1: 1 and group work.

Further details can be found in Section 5 of the Business Case.

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Capital/Revenue

16.

The total cost of the Phoenix @ Pause service for a period of 21 months is £500,000, or £285k per
year. The pilot established in September 2020 was originally funded as follows:

e £262,000 contribution from Pause (this will not be available in future years)
e £178,000 from Public Health

e £30,000 from SCC central finance pot

e £30,000 from what was Southampton CCG

17.

Going forward it is proposed that the existing Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service continues to

be funded in its current form beyond 28th Feb 2022 and an ongoing commitment is made to sustain
the service on a permanent basis, to continue working with the current cohort of 21 women and then
further cohorts of up to 24 women (each cycle being 21-months; 3 months of assertive outreach with

5
Page 9



women and 18 months to work with those women that choose to engage).
The total cost per year of the core service is £285k.

18.

It is proposed that the annual recurring cost of £285k for the core service is met by the City Council
as follows:

e £142,500 from public health
e £142 500 from Children’s Services

The Children’s Services contribution has been included within the Destination 22 business case
which was supported by the Council’'s Executive Management Board in September 2021 along with
an uplift in future years to support the further expansion of the programme, subject to a review of the
progress being made against the key outcomes as outlined in Paragraph 14, the local evidence
base and an assessment of future impact.

The Public Health contribution will come out of the Public Health Grant.

19.

In addition, it is proposed that the CCG invests £71,288 per annum to provide the trauma informed
therapy pathway described in Paragraph 15 above. This funding will be met recurrently from the
CCG’s Mental Health budget.

20.

Total annual costs therefore equate to £356,288.

Property/Other

21.

There are no property implications associated with this report.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:

22.

S.1 Localism Act 2011 in relation to the City Council’s delivery of the Pause programme on behalf of
partner agencies.

Other Legal Implications:

23.

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken setting out the benefits of the service
offered to those with protected characteristics and the dis-benefits to those individuals in the event a
decision to cease the service was taken.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST IMPLICATIOINS

24.

NOT APPLICABLE

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

25.

There is a potential financial risk in future years associated with the contribution from the Public
Health Grant, given that the Council does not have long term assurance from Government that this
grant will continue. Should there be a significant reduction or ending of the Public Health Grant in
future years, an alternative funding source to cover this contribution would need to be found to
enable the service to continue.

Any reduction or cessation of the service would carry the following risks:

¢ Risk of continuation of poor outcomes for women at risk of repeated child removal and for
their children

Page 10




e Financial Risk: LAC rates continue to increase along with associated costs of placements and
adoptions. The needs of this cohort of women continue to not be met resulting in long term
poor life outcomes which in turn contribute to financial pressures across the system, e.g.
inappropriate use of health services, high maternity costs associated with increased
complexity, entry into the criminal justice system, social care costs, housing

e Reputational Risks: cessation of a service that has been well embedded and is well regarded
locally, whilst Southampton’s LAC and infants into care rates remain significantly higher than
the national average and statistical neighbours and continue to increase

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS

26. The proposal to continue and enhance the Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service supports a
number of local policy directives and key priorities, in particular:-

e Southampton Health and Care Strategy — 2020/2025 — particular focus on giving children a
good start in life and tackling health inequalities and deprivation

e Children and Young People’s Strategy — 2022 — 2026

KEY DECISION? YES

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: ALL

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Appendices

1 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case for a sustained service

2 Equality and Safety Impact Assessment

Documents In Members’ Rooms

NONE

Equality Impact Assessment

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and YES
Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out.

Privacy Impact Assessment —

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Privacy Impact NO
Assessment (PIA) to be carried out.

Other Background Documents
Other Background documents available for inspection at:

Title of Background Paper(s)

NONE

Page 11




Page 12



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 PhoeA@ enda.diem 4

Appendix 1
Phoenix @ Pause Southampton:
Business case for a sustained service
SUBJECT: Business case to fund continuation of Phoenix @ Pause Southampton: a post-

care proceedings service for women at risk of repeated child removal

DATE: September 2021

BUSINESS CASE Children’s Services and Public Health with input from Southampton CCG and
DEVELOPED BY: Phoenix @ Pause partners

SUMMARY OF This business case proposes that:

RECOMMENDATIONS:

o Funding be made available to continue delivering the existing Phoenix @
Pause service in Southampton in 2022-23, and hence incorporate into this
year’s budget planning.

o An ongoing commitment is made to sustain the service on a permanent
basis. The business case sets out the cost of the service per year, and for a
further three cohorts of up to 24 women as an indication of costs for a 5-
year period up to 2026/27.

o The CCG contribution is invested in the mental health pathway for women
engaged on the programme; to ensure they have timely and appropriate
access to robust trauma informed therapy.

OBJECTIVES: The objectives of the Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service are to:

o Support a cohort (‘community’) of women at risk of repeated removal of
children into care, to take more control of their lives and address their
multiple unmet needs and difficulties;

o Support the women to take an 18-month ‘pause’ in pregnancy — such that
the women and their service providers can focus on addressing the
women'’s needs, and as a result break a cycle of repeat pregnancies that
result in children being removed and taken into care;

o As aresult, reduce the number of children taken into care and reduce
pressure on the looked after children’s budget; as an invest-to-save
initiative.

OUTCOMES: A sustained Phoenix @ Pause service will contribute to:

o A permanent reduction in at-risk children in Southampton (a strategic
priority);

Page 13 1 0f 39



DRAFT PAPER —to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

o Improved outcomes for the group of women at risk of repeat removals,
with regard to their: health and wellbeing, housing situation, employment
and skills, financial position, social wellbeing, and self-efficacy;

o Reduction in inequalities in life chances for women supported by the
programme, a large proportion of who are care experienced;

o Fewer pregnancies; specifically, pregnancies resulting in babies being
removed into care;

o Cost avoidance, due to: reduction in repeat child removals, lower risk of
children born with specific health and care needs (e.g. due to maternal
addiction), and a shift from unplanned and crisis care use to planned use of
health and other services by women receiving support.

Page 14 2 0f 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 1: Summary

‘Phoenix @ Pause’ Southampton is a post-care proceedings pilot service based on the national Pause
model and delivered through SCC Children’s Services. Pause is a national evidence-based programme
that works with Local Authorities and other partners to set up services that work with women who
have experienced, or are at risk of, repeated pregnancies that result in children needing to be
removed from their care. The trauma-informed relationship-based intervention provides an effective
means of establishing positive changes in women'’s lives, meeting longstanding unmet health and
welfare needs and addressing significant histories of trauma and adversity, including the loss of
children into care and adoption. As a result of working towards improved outcomes and taking a
pause in pregnancy (through use of LARC or other appropriate contraception), the programme helps
breaks the cycle of repeat pregnancies that result in further babies being taken into care.

Pause operates in a similar way to a licensed programme such as the Family Nurse Partnership (FNP)
programme in that if Local Authorities “buy into” Pause, they are committed to delivering a service
that is aligned with the Pause service model. Pause do not deliver the service, and Local Authorities
and their partners remain responsible for delivering or commissioning the service.

See Annex A for further information on the national Pause programme and how it works with
women at risk of repeat removals of children into care.

The imperatives for continuing to deliver the pilot Phoenix @ Pause service are threefold:

e Improvements in health and wellbeing, wider outcomes, and a reduction in inequalities in life
chances for women supported by the programme, a large proportion of who are care
experienced;

e A reduction in at-risk children in the city, and fewer children being removed into care;

e Avoidance of future costs, in relation to both looked after children, and health and social
care services: investing in the service represents an invest-to-save approach.

In the time since its launch on 1%t September 2020, the Phoenix @ Pause service has completed
three-four months of assertive outreach to engage 21 women and is in its sixth month of engaging
and working with this cohort of women.

This business case proposes that the existing Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service continues to be
funded in its current form beyond 28" Feb 2022, the end-date of the existing funding package.
Specifically, it is proposed that funds be made available to continue the service for 2022-23 (the
period 1°t March 2022 — 28" Feb 2023), and also that an ongoing commitment is made to sustain the
service on a permanent basis. The business case sets out the cost of the service per year, and for a
further three cohorts of up to 24 women (each cycle being 21-months; 3 months of assertive
outreach with women and 18 months to work with those women that choose to engage) as an
indication of costs for a 5-year period up to 2026/27. The total cost per year of the core service is
£285k, and the cost for 5 years therefore £1.425 million. (NB. For the purposes of the cost and
benefit analysis, the cost of the core service has been used; this does not include the costs of the
proposed new trauma-informed therapeutic pathway at £71,288 per annum which it is proposed the
CCG will fund).

Costs avoided accrue over time, hence sustaining the service will increasingly contribute to a
reduction in future budgetary pressures, in addition to continuing to positively influence health and

Page 15 3 0f39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

wider outcomes and reduce health inequalities. Based upon the national Pause methodology, over 5
years a Pause service in Southampton would:

o Incur a cumulative delivery cost of £1,425,000 (based on £285,000 per annum).
o Avoid total cumulative costs of £6,444,076, which begin to accrue from Year 2.

o Confer a net cumulative cost avoidance of £5,019,076.

See section 6 for further information on costs and the cost benefit analysis.

Page 16 4 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 2: Background and rationale for Phoenix @ Pause

Rate of looked after children

Southampton has consistently exhibited high rates of looked after children (LAC): see figure below.
In 2020, Southampton had a LAC rate of 95 per 10,000 children, significantly higher than the England
average of 67 per 10,000 children and significantly higher than the South East average of 53 per
10,000. Southampton also had the 7™ highest rate out of 16 CIPFA nearest neighbours; those Local
Authorities most similar to Southampton based upon demographic and socio-economic indicators.

This trend can also be observed in relation to removals in under 5-year olds, with Southampton
having the second highest rate in the South East (49 per 10,000 children compared to a national
average of 35 per 10,000 and South East average of 28 per 10,000) and the 9" highest rate in
relation to CIPFA nearest neighbours®. The Southampton rate of 49 children under 5 years per
10,000 of the age-related population equates to 79 children per year. For Southampton’s numbers
of LAC under 5 years to reduce to the England Local Authority average per year (56 children),
Southampton would need to see a decrease of 23 children per year (29% decrease). By reducing the
numbers of pregnancies that lead to removals, the Phoenix @ Pause programme aims to specifically
reduce removals in this age group.

In areas where Pause had operated continuously for 5 years, the most recent national evaluation of
Pause (2020)? calculates that the number of infants entering care was reduced by an average of 14
per year, per local authority. After the first 21 months of operation, the national evaluation suggests
an average reduction of 11 children not going into the care system due to Pause. Phoenix @ Pause
therefore has the potential to have a significant impact in reducing Southampton’s rates and
numbers of looked after children. As there are 21 rather than 24 women currently engaged in the
Southampton Phoenix @ Pause programme (largely due to the difficulties of engaging women
during the current covid-19 pandemic), the target number of removals after the first 21 months
should be reduced slightly.

Rate of looked after children
in Southampton per 10k
children <18y (vs England),
@ England 2011-2020

[=]

2011 2013 2015 2017 2015

1 Public Health England. Fingertips. Public Health Profiles - Children in Care. May 2021.
2 Boddy J. et al. Evaluation of Pause: evaluation report. March 2020. Department for Education.

Page 17 5 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Research indicates that outcomes for LAC are worse than for those of other children.>* Difficulties
and negative behaviours can also translate into similar experiences for the children of LAC, creating
an intergenerational cycle of challenges and adverse outcomes. Together with improving outcomes
for LAC, it is also important to safely reduce the numbers of children who enter the care system: a
strategic priority in the city. The outcomes of the service in relation to reducing inequalities in life
chances for the community of women (many of whom are care experienced themselves) and
intervening earlier to reduce demand for crisis and acute health care also aligns well with the NHS
Long Term Plan aspirations to intervene earlier (prevention and early intervention), improve equity
of access and outcomes, and reduce health inequalities (including for those that are care
experienced specifically)®.

Infant care entry in Southampton

In Southampton, rate of infant care entry in 2019-20 (the most recent year for which data are
available) was observed to be the highest rate for the previous 9 years, at 156 per 10,000 children
aged under one: see graph below.

Looked after children: infant rate of care entry, Southampton (per 10k)

0 /\/\/\/
120

Rate per 10,000
e
8

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

Year

Relative to other local authorities analysed by Pause as part of their 2020 evaluation, Southampton’s
rate of infants entering care is considerable: see graph below, in which Southampton’s current rate
would sit in the uppermost portion of the plot.

Post-intervention

period begins /——
140

2011-12 2012-13 201314 2014-15 2015-16 201617 2017-18 2018-19

— Comparison — Pause Wave 1 (all sites) —Pause Wave 1 (ex Doncaster)

Mean rates of infant care entry: Pause Round 1 and comparator authorities, 2012-19

3 Priestley A and Kennedy LA. The health of looked after children and young people: a summary of the literature. University
of Strathclyde: International Public Policy Institute, July 2015.

4 Higgins A et al. What is the relationship between being in care and the educational outcomes of children? Rees Centre,
University of Oxford, Sept 2015.

5 NHS Long Term Plan, 2019. See: NHS Long Term Plan » Chapter 2: More NHS action on prevention and health inequalities

Page 18 6 of 39


https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/online-version/chapter-2-more-nhs-action-on-prevention-and-health-inequalities/

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Based on upon the Pause national evidence base, we could expect a reduction in the number of
infants entering care in the following ways:

Current Southampton scenario of working with a cohort of 21 women and using the 2020 Pause
evaluation findings: reduction of 9-10 children entering care after 21 months and 12-13 per annum
after 5 years.

Future Southampton scenario of working with a cohort of 24 women and using the 2020 Pause
evaluation findings: reduction of 11 children entering care after 21 months and 14 per annum after 5
years.

The 2017 national evaluation of Pause suggests more conservative reductions of 8-9 children being

prevented from going into care after 21 months (working with a cohort of 24 women), though the
methodology used for second evaluation is the stronger of the two (i.e. a longer follow-up period).

Local scoping exercise, prioritisation, and assertive outreach

August 2020: Phoenix @ Pause undertook initial 'scoping'. This identified 168 women who had
children removed in a two year period. 386 children were removed in total, from these women.

September 2020: A group of 72 women were identified as eligible for the programme who had a
combined 243 children removed from their care.

October 2020: After a prioritisation exercise, 49 women were shortlisted and approached for the
pilot. The 49 prioritised women have had 167 total children removed

January 2021: 21 out of 24 spaces available on the local programme have been filled (representing
a ‘full’ community of 18-24 women as defined by Pause)

Within the group of 168 women who had had children removed:

o The average age of the women (at the time of scoping) was 32 years. Average age at first
birth was 20 years.

o One-third of the women (33%) had had two children removed, and approximately another
third (35%) had had three children removed. One-quarter (26%) had had between four and
seven children removed.®

o The women had many complex and often inter-linking needs: 76% experienced domestic
abuse, 71% had mental health needs (not necessarily diagnosed), and 63% had issues with
drug use.

6 One woman had had nine children removed, and another woman ten.

Page 19 7 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Within the group of 49 prioritised women who had had children removed:

o They experienced a combined total of 167 children being removed from their care (an
average of 3.4 children per woman)
An average age of 30 years (range 19 to 44 years)
An ethnicity most likely to be White British (92%)

o An average age at first birth of 20 years — relative to 28.8 years for the UK general
population

o 13 women were Looked After Children, 27%

o 23 women had a history of social care (inclusive of the women who were LAC) 47%

Overall, 93% of the prioritised women had their first child while aged under 25 years. The subgroup
of women who were looked after children themselves, had an average age at first birth of 19 years.

Among the 49 women in Southampton prioritised for the Phoenix @ Pause pilot, prevalence of
factors including mental health issues, drug and alcohol use, contact with the criminal justice system,
and negative/traumatic life experiences (including domestic abuse, a history of being in care,
homelessness, and sex work), was high. Data appear in the figure below. It is evident that Phoenix @
Pause has targeted a markedly vulnerable community of women, with significant and complex
unmet needs.

100% .
B2%
209 7es
&0%4 4 7% 47%
3955
405 7%
0%
2 il & o ok
o §F Q"M ;32‘ L & P . c“} FooF
: Sl . o < g L \5 A
& 5 S N R .
Q.z-. é\'\a. __P h{\_“-\. 6;. 5 W o .lll__.?-\.
o i o A o et ‘_\\\ W
o S
&= & W5 T
Q\"\ '\2‘:"{‘

Prevalence of known issues among the 49 women prioritised for Phoenix @ Pause Southampton

As of June 2021, assertive outreach to the 49 prioritised women resulted in a community of 21
women being open to Phoenix @ Pause Southampton.” Within this community, prevalence of health
and wellbeing and wider needs are similar to (and often slightly higher than) those shown in the
figure above. See section 4 for the breakdown of needs in the 21 women that Phoenix @ Pause is
currently working with, and progress in meeting outcomes.

7 The term ‘community’ of women (who are open to a Pause service) is preferred, rather than alternative terms such as
‘cohort’ or ‘group’.

Page 20 8 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)

Groups with high level of need in adulthood, for example people who are in prison, homeless or with
serious mental health problems and substance misuse issues are more likely to have experienced
adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)® than the general population. Accordingly, prevalence of ACEs
among the community of women open to Phoenix @ Pause will be high.

Presence of multiple ACEs increases risk of poor outcomes in relation to health, wellbeing and life
chances. There is a link between ACEs and longer-term adult outcomes, including disease
development such as diabetes, cardiovascular disease and cancer, which can lead to premature
death. Indeed, Pause research found that women with multiple children removed are 36 times more
likely to die prematurely than age-matched women in the general population.

Addressing an identified service gap to influence positive outcomes

Phoenix @ Pause Southampton was set up to address the identified gap in provision for women,
that existed following the completion of court proceedings and child removal. By supporting the
multiple and complex unmet needs of these women, the service addresses the known risk of further
child removal — stemming from subsequent pregnancies that often occur at short intervals.®

Upstream prevention through Phoenix @ Pause leads to downstream cost avoidance for the public
purse. This invest-to-save approach seeks to reduce avoidable long-term pressure on SCC’s LAC
budget, together with a reduction in future adult social care and NHS spend — from treating the
fallout of negative experiences including unresolved mental health issues, alcohol and substance
addiction, domestic abuse, and benefit dependency.

8 Liverpool CAHMs. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). What are ACEs? 2021. www.liverpoolcamhs.com/resources/
adverse-childhood-conditions-ace/

9 Public Health and Children’s Services, Southampton City Council. Business case for post-care proceedings pilot service for
women at risk of repeat removal of children. Nov 2018.

Page 21 9 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 3: The national Pause service model and evidence of effectiveness

The Pause model

Pause is a national non-governmental organisation that began operating in 2013.1° Pause works
with local practices to deliver support to women who have experienced, or are at risk of, repeat
removals of children into care. Pause describe their model as follows:

“Through an intense programme of support, [Pause] aims to break this cycle and give
women the opportunity to reflect, tackle destructive patterns of behaviour, and to
develop new skills and responses that can help them create a more positive future. In
doing so, [the aim is] to prevent the damaging consequences of thousands more
children being taken into care.”

A key principle of the Pause way of working is to recognise women as individuals, rather than
defining the women by the issues and challenges they face.!! Fundamental to the Pause model is the
relationship between the woman and a Pause practitioner, which is secure and consistent, and both
nurturing and challenging — and provides the basis for increasing the woman’s sense of value and
self-worth, and for breaking destructive cycles. This approach can be described as a long-term (18
month) trauma-informed relationship intervention. In order to enable a woman to focus on herself
and her own needs, Pause ask women to commit to a pause in pregnancy, facilitated by an informed
choice about an effective and acceptable method contraception, supported by close working with
local sexual health services.

Theory of change

The Pause model is based on the following theory of change:

The need Pause is addressing Pause activities Pause outcomes Longterm outcomes
Women experience Relationship with Practi- AR Errres Women have more
repeated loss and , tioner control of their lives
Women's
trauma

ability t_o Support fo acu:':ess contra: Better engagement with Fewer children are tak-
Women lack a sta- e EEA services en into care
affected

ble environment Intensive tenacious su
and chil- o

d port Improved stability Women have better
ren are .
relationships
Women lack a sta- removed Support to stabilise lives
. int _ .
H S S S O CEE Support to develop a Better well-being and Budget savings
sense of self sense of self

Pause theory of change: summary model (taken from national 2020 evaluation)

10 pause. About us. www.pause.org.uk/about-us/
11 pause. How we work with women. www.pause.org.uk/what-we-do/the-pause-model/

Page 22 10 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

National evaluation of Pause, 2020

In 2020 a second national evaluation of Pause,*? conducted on behalf of the Department for
Education, was published. The evaluation followed up women for a period of three years post
intervention.

The voice of women

The voice of women supported through the Pause programme were captured throughout the
evaluation. Exemplar quotations are reproduced below, which demonstrate the positive way in
which the intensive support was received by women supported by Pause practices:

///’11 reached out to [Pause ﬁ‘\\\

practitioner] and just basically
told her that I was in a bit of a
situation and I needed her help .
because [ didn’ t really feel like I
had anyone [ could talk to---

“To everybody else we’ re JUSt

a number on a piece of paper;
with them we’ re humans an they
treat us like we are”

--and then [ come and met with
[practltloner] and [they] took me to
my appointment--- and we got
everything sorted there and then”

-

“the key for me |was| that I knew
that they was there for me”

“When I first actually got
involved with Pause it was
almost like I was frightened to
open that can of worms but now
that can of worms has been
opened and I’ m going in so many

directions now”

Key findings
The 2020 evaluation reported the following key findings:

o Long-term trauma-informed relationship-based intervention is effective in:

- Establishing positive changes in women's lives, meeting longstanding unmet health and
welfare needs and addressing trauma and adversity, including the loss of children into care;

- Reducing rate of infant care entry — with Pause appearing to have a cumulative effect over
time, with women continuing to avoid further child-removals post-intervention.

o Costs are offset by significant financial savings to the public purse.
o There are likely to be concomitant benefits to children (e.g. through improved relationships).

Specifically:

o There was a statistically significant reduction in the rate of infants (children <12 months)
entering care, compared with an increase in comparator sites, based on a difference-in-
difference analysis (change observed in Pause practice areas vs change in non-Pause areas).

12 Boddy J, Bowyer S, Godar R, et al. Evaluation of Pause: evaluation report. March 2020. Department for Education.

Page 23 11 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

o Inareas where Pause had operated continuously for 5 years, the number of infants entering
care was reduced by an average of 14 per year, per local authority.

o The estimated cost-benefit of Pause (in general terms, nationally) was:

v' £4.50 for every £1 spent, over 4 years

v' £7.61 for every £1 spent, over 18 years

o Reduced rates of infant care-entry were seen even if a significant proportion were already using
contraception prior to engaging with Pause, suggesting that other elements of the programme
are also key.

o Pause appeared to promote stabilisation in women’s lives, with positive change in the women’s
sense of self appearing to scaffold longer-term change.

o Longitudinal evidence of positive change and significant improvements for women across key
areas of women'’s lives, including:

- improved emotional well-being and reductions in psychological distress; At baseline,
average scores are at the borderline of moderate/severe emotional distress according to
norms for the scale, while the endpoint mean is indicative of ‘mild’ emotional distress.

- housing and financial security, with significant reductions in rent arrears, and the number of
women who were homeless or in unstable accommodation almost halved,;

- increased engagement in education, employment and specialist services, including a 60%
increase in the proportion of women in paid employment;

- improvements in key relationships in women’s lives, including relationships with existing
children and their carers, with a 25% increase in the proportion of women reporting face-to-
face contact with children.

- Improved use of services, with reductions in frequency and number of visits to A&E, and
more consistent and increased engagement with other services (e.g. mental health).

- Reduction in crime and in serious crime.

Findings related to substance misuse are less clear cut, with an increase in substance misuse for
some women between the start and end of the programme. However, qualitative information
gained through the national evaluation, suggests that this may because some women are not ready
to disclose their substance misuse needs at the beginning of the programme (when baseline
outcomes are measured), and are ready to do so later on. In relation to debt, the outcomes are also
mixed, though with qualitative information suggesting that debt awareness for all women increases.

o Successful delivery of Pause was contingent upon:
- A well-supported workforce;
- Practitioner core skills/resource, for example sufficient time, core skills and knowledge;
- Access to a flexible financial resource.

Page 24 12 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

First national evaluation of Pause, 2017

Findings from the first independent evaluation of the Pause (2017), which informed the original
business case for the Phoenix @ Pause service were that Pause had a positive and significant impact
on the women engaging with the programme, many of whom had complex, multiple, and mutually-
reinforcing needs.

Key findings of the evaluation were as follows:

e Women's access to, and engagement with, services, including GP, housing, and substance
misuse services, generally increased over time, and was associated with improved outcomes
for some women.

e By the end of the evaluation period, 31% of those who had been drinking alcohol at high risk
levels had reduced their consumption to safer levels; 27% of those who had been
experiencing problematic Class A substance misuse were no longer using Class A substances;
46% of women who disclosed that they had experienced an incident of domestic violence
during their intervention reported that no further incidents had taken place during the final
months of the evaluation; and 25.6% of women who began Pause living in insecure housing
had moved to secure housing. Given the complexity of women’s situations and that they as a
cohort, would not normally be engaging well with services, this represents robust change.

e Impact on levels of confidence, self-worth and resilience demonstrate some improvement in
some women?®3,

e Women benefited by learning new skills, behavioural responses, and coping mechanisms,
which helped them address past traumas and ongoing, day-to-day challenges more
effectively.

e Some women engaged in new goals related to employment, education, or volunteering.

Anecdotally, Pause have said that in addition to specific needs such as substance misuse and
domestic violence, most women come with general health needs that have built up from years of
self-neglect. Being registered with a GP is therefore key in ensuring that their unmet health needs
are addressed and that they have continuity of care in primary care.

13 For some women there was a decrease in self-reported wellbeing, though this should be considered in the context of
there being strong research evidence to suggest that women who have had children removed from their care suffer a
marked downturn in psychological functioning (After Adoption, 2007; Logan, 1996; Neil et al. 2010).

Page 25 13 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 4: Local service development, intelligence and case studies

Initiation of local service: Phoenix @ Pause Southampton

The current Phoenix @ Pause Southampton service evolved from a model originally agreed in Nov
2018. The model evolved due to the combined effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and national Pause
funding becoming available. For context, a timeline showing initiation of the current service is shown
below.

Nov 2018
Business case submitted and funding agreed for a pilot post-care proceedings support service.
Participation in national Pause consulted on, but not pursued, due to cost. An in-house ‘Phoenix Service’
funded via SCC Children’s Services, Public Health, and the CCG (initially to be led by the PACT team).

Delay in setting up service due to pressures in the PACT team (were originally leading on set up).

|

Jan 2020
Phoenix Manager recruited to mobilise the service, to begin in April 2020.

/ During 2020 \

Covid-19 pandemic results in delay to launch of Phoenix Service.

Department for Education (DfE) seed funding made available as a result of the positive findings of the
2020 national Pause evaluation (national intention to expand the number of Pause practices).

SCC able to secure Pause match funding and launch a Pause practice swiftly due to prior consultation.
£250,000 grant funding provided by Pause (including £26,000 membership fee), to cover 21 months.

k Service renamed ‘Phoenix @ Pause Southampton’. /

4 )
Aug 2020
x1 Phoenix @ Pause Practice Lead begins in post. Scoping conducted to identify women eligible for the
service (women with children removed in the previous two years).

- 1 J
( N
Sept 2020
x3 Practitioners and x1 Co-ordinator begin in post. Phoenix @ Pause goes live 1st Sept 2020.

& 1 J
4 N
Oct 2020
Assertive outreach begins on the shortlisted and prioritised 49 women
& J
May 2021

21 out of 24 spaces available on the local programme have been filled (representing a ‘full’ community of
18-24 women as defined by Pause)

Page 26 14 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Local intelligence on the 21 women in the current Phoenix @ Pause community
21 women are engaged in the Phoenix @ Pause service.

e Average age 28.6 & ranges from 21 - 36

e 95% White British, 5% White Irish

e The 21 women have 72 children removed from their care and an average of 3.3 children per
woman, ranges from 2 — 7 children

e 51% of the children have been adopted, 21% have SGOS, 21% were placed with their
Fathers, 6% are in foster care & 1% are currently in proceedings.

o 8 ofthe women were Looked After Children 38% *

e 15 of the women had a history of social care involvement as a child, including being care
experienced, such as respite care and informal arrangements (inclusive of the women who
were LAC) 71%

Some of the women who has a history of social care involvement would also be considered care
experienced, e.g. respite care, private arrangements to live with other family, or they may have been
Children in Need or experienced social care intervention at some point.

94% of the 21 women have mental health needs, 50% housing needs, 64% engage in drug use and
44% in alcohol use, and 83% of the women are either in a violent relationship or have been recently.

Baseline data on key areas of women’s lives

The radar chart below shows how the Southampton women have scored themselves on different
areas of their lives at the start of their engagement with the service (0-3 months), which can be
compared with the national baseline. The categories “recovery from loss”, “self-esteem” and
“learning and work” have the lowest scores, with “police and courts” having the highest score. The
other category scores range from 4.5 to 6.9. Domestic abuse scores higher than we expected given
the amount of domestic abuse present in the women’s narratives. The scoring is fairly similar to the
national baseline, though with safety/safeguarding and contact with the police and courts scoring
higher in Southampton. Women will be asked to score themselves again in relation to the different

areas at month 6, 12 and 18 to monitor progress.

Pause Southampton Baseline Progress Data

Fun and Happiness
10 Physical and/or mental

Safety/safeguarding health

Relationship with 8

Drugs and alcohol

children e
Learning and work Partners and sex
Self-esteem Domestic abuse
Recovery from loss Support network

Emotional well-being

and resilience
Police and courts Money

Housing

Page 27 15 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Fun and Happiness
Relationship with 10 Physical and/or
children mental health

)

Learning and work Drugs and alcohol

Self-Esteem Partners and sex

Recovery from loss Domestic abuse

Emotional well-being Family and Friend

and resilience Metwiork
Police and courts Housing
Maoney
e Vo th 0-3 = Wonth 12 e WO ER 18

Local service impact: progress while open to Phoenix @Pause Southampton

9 of the 21 women have completed their “progress form” at six months to score themselves in
relation to the ten categories. The graphs below show the progress made against Physical and
Mental Health, Drug & Alcohol & Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience. All the women’s names have
been changed.

Baseline scores for physical and mental health

e Rangedfrom2-8
e Average5

6-month mark

e Ranged5-8
e Average b6
e 5 women reported improvements, 4 women reported the same score

Page 28 16 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Physical & mental health scores

Jane Poppy Amelia Grace  Anna Tracy  Hayley Michella Katy

[y
o

O P N W H U1 OO N O O

M Baseline physical & mental health W 6 months physical & mental health

Baseline scores for drug and alcohol use
e Ranged from1—-10
e Average5

6-month mark
e Ranged from 2 —-10

e Average6
e 3 women reported increases in drug and alcohol scores, 5 women reported the same
scores, 1 women reported a decrease

Drug & alcohol scores

12

10

Jane Poppy Amelia Grace  Anna Tracy  Hayley Michella Katy

o)

[e)]

S

N

M Baseline drug & alcohol W 6 month drug & alcohol

Baseline scores for resilience & emotional wellbeing
e Rangedfrom1-8
e Average4d

6-month mark
e Rangedfrom3 -9

Page 29 17 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

e Average5
e 8 women reported improvement in their emotional wellbeing & resilience, 1 woman
reported a decrease

Emotional wellbeing & resilience scores

10

Jane Poppy Amelia  Grace Anna Tracy  Hayley Michella Katy

[&)]

S

N

M Baseline emotional wellbeing & resilience

M 6 month emotional wellbeing & resilience

Highlights in relation to activity and outcomes as at September 2021:

e Supporting women to engage with other services such as AA, No Limits, DASH, IDVA,
counselling.

e 5 have been referred, completed or are currently doing post-adoption counselling. 3 women
are in the process of signing paperwork to start the counselling

e 1 of the women is coming to the end of bereavement counselling with Cruse

e A new Pathway with Steps 2 Wellbeing has been established, and access to trauma-informed
therapy is being explored

e Supporting 18 women to get LARC and follow up on sexual health treatment

e 5 women attended a taster equine therapy session — this will continue as a 6 week course
for 6 women

e One of the women who was previously homeless has now been housed for 6 months in
private rented accommodation

e Helped one of our women move into homeless services supported accommodation

e One of our women has moved in a council flat and has taken an online course on child
development and autism

o 4 women referred to Saints4Sports

e Supported 2 women through final care proceedings and ‘Goodbye for now’ contact

e Supporting women to contact their children and write to them through Letterbox contact

e Creating a scrapbook and memory boards for the children

e Positive feedback from other services working with the women commenting on how well
they are doing.

Page 30 18 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Case studies from the 21 women

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Case study 1: The infographic below illustrates the journey taken by one (anonymised) woman who is currently open to Phoenix @ Pause

Southampton.

Children’s Services

T’s Journey

—0

TE abed

Issues prior to Pause:
all have associated
costs

Future
aspiratio
ns

Our hopes:
we will strive for
with T

No longer street homeless:
stable accommodation for 10 months

« O

Remain out of prison

T experienced parental mental health, domestic violence,
several changes of parental figures, mental and physical
abuse, and sexual abuse from age of 4

T is care experienced from age of 8, with over 30 placements
and an unsuccessful reunification with parents (other siblings
remain with parents)

5 children removed over nine years

Health and wellbeing
- Hepatitis C positive
- Diagnosed with PTSD and attachment disorder
- Previously a sex worker
- Drug use (cannabis, heroin & crack cocaine) & alcohol
- Domestically violent relationships
- Diagnosed with PTSD and attachment disorder as an adolescent
- Overdoses and self-harm will have resulted in emergency care
- Received therapeutic care as a child for experiences and drug addiction
- See Table on use of hospital services since April 2010 below

O— O

Police & Courts
Repeat convictions
8 prison sentences
Secure residential

Housing settings (YOI)

Health & Public Health
On LARC
Registered with GP

Housing

Homeless and

Outreach, chronic homeless
since exiting care at 18

palke

O

Practicalities
ID, bank account and
benefits application
Assisted swapping utilities
provide

Police & Courts
Avoid further
convictions

ﬁ

Housing
Sustaining tenancy

Our work with T

Police & courts so far
Supported to
work with the

police and courts

O

Health & Public Health
Use of contraception
Engage with health services

O

@ >

General
Confidence to communicate

needs Appropriate contact with
- ' 19 of 39



Z¢ abed

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Case study 1 continued: The infographic below illustrates the health interventions and diagnosis for the same woman’s five children in their

first 4 weeks of life

T’s babies — their health journey in the neonatal period (first 4 weeks of life)

Information from Children’s services records and so may not include all health episodes

O

Child 1:

Born in crack house

4 weeks premature
Experienced withdrawal
from heroine at birth
requiring acute care
Had a bleed on the
brain at birth due to
alcohol use in
pregnancy

Has Foetal Alcohol
Syndrome (FAS), Autism
and Sensory Processing
Disorder

O

Child 2:

Experienced
withdrawal from
birth, including from
heroine, requiring
acute care

Has Foetal Alcohol
Syndrome (FAS),
ADHD, Sensory
Processing Disorder
and Autism.

O

Child 3:

Labour induced
Requires intensive
care

Experienced
withdrawal from
birth, including from
heroine, requiring
acute care
Additional 3 weeks
of monitoring heart
rate and breathing
required

G

Child 4:

Substances used
in pregnancy
include opiates,
cocaine, heroin
and methadone.
Child suffered
withdrawal,
including from
heroine, at birth
and required
acute care

O

Child 5:

Substances used
during pregnancy

and after the birth.

Experienced
withdrawal,
including from
heroine requiring
acute care

Ne

Pause in
pregnancies (on
LARC) and
working to
address
multiple and

It is not possible to obtain specific information on the above episodes of care, though the following are 2018/19 NHS costs associated with some episodes

The costs associated with Foetal Alcohol Syndrome have not been well quantified though it is clear there are costs to the LA for additional educational
needs and to the NHS as children require input from a multi-disciplinary team drawn from paediatrics, speech & language therapy, occupational therapy,

e Neonatal normal care: £514 per day
e Neonatal high dependency care: £1,007 per day
e Neonatal intensive care: £1,531 per day

physiotherapy, psychology and psychiatry services. In addition, about one third have heart defects requiring surgery or on-going treatment.

complex needs
— see previous
slide

20 0of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Case study 1 continued: Use of ambulance and acute health services prior to and after
engagement

The table below highlights use of ambulance and acute healthcare services by “T” since April 2010 to
engagement on the Phoenix @ Pause service. The data and costings are not complete and so it is not
possible to gain a comprehensive view of ambulance and acute healthcare use, though it does give
an indication of the high-level use of emergency and acute services by T. After 12 months, by which
time women will be 2/3s through the programme, the intention is to compare past and current use
of health services. Work is ongoing to gain more complete data on emergency and acute service use,
and also sexual health and community service use (i.e. community mental health, drug and alcohol
service).

Woman “T":

Activity ‘ No. of occurrences per activity Cost

Notes
Ambulance activity
Hear and Treat 1 £47.00
See and Treat 1 £209.00
See, Treat & Convey 1 £257
A&E
A&E attendance 4 £664.00
Adult mental health illness
Block contract — not

Outpatient visits/appointments 20 costed here
Perinatal psychiatry
Outpatient visits/appointments 1 £90
Obstetrics
Outpatient visits/appointments 9 Not costed
Inpatient Stays 1 £3,293.00
Midwifery (non-births i.e. for medical abortion, poor foetal growth)
Inpatient Stays 1 £3,293.00
Gynaecology
Outpatient visits/appointments 3 £495.00
Inpatient Stays £752.00
Trauma and orthopaedics
Outpatient visits/appointments ‘ 6 ‘ £715.00 | Not all costed
General medicine
Inpatient Stays ‘ 1 ‘ £589.00 |
Physiotherapy
Outpatient visits/appointments ‘ 5 ‘ Not costed |
Ophthalmology
Outpatient visits/appointments ‘ 2 ‘ £243.00 |
Diagnostic imaging
Outpatient visits/appointments 2 £165.00
Appointments cancelled: 6 Not costed
Did not attends: 3 Not costed
Total costs of those costed

£10,812.00

Page 33 21 of 39




DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

With 94% of the 21 women having mental health needs, 64% engaged in drug use and 44% in
alcohol use, and 83% of the women either in a violent relationship or have been recently, the impact

on health services will be high. The national evaluation of Pause (2020), whilst not tracking health
outcomes comprehensively, does suggest there is a reduction in emergency and acute use of

services after engaging with Pause. A key objective of Phoenix @ Pause is to support women to

access the right health and community services and engage positively, which will create a cost saving
for health as well as the LA longer term.

A further case study is available at Annex B

Women’s narrative

Examples of women’s feedback to the service are as follows:

My worker Luke has really helped me with getting in contact with services that | need help from. He has
helped me speak with Mental Health and my Children’s Social Workers so that | can address my needs.

| have really enjoyed the Horse Therapy Activity that | was invited to with PAUSE and | look forward to

other activities that they have lined up. | feel like | have been listened to as they have asked for my
thoughts on what activities would help us to feel confident and fun.

| really struggle working with professionals however | feel like | can be myself when | am working the
PAUSE workers and | really appreciate being able to feel comfortable.

back to see if | was okay and tried to tell me about the project again which made me feel like they
cared.

| was quite rude to PAUSE initially when they knocked at my door however they made sure they came

o

;-"‘“"/,/ _H,Ty_—i -
ur

e Sut | love the ¢ '

i ‘{?om there becausuer ‘I:. es
s?c‘:.l(::nd sweet. MY favo
iy o

hup!
es | getketc
put sometmE, -

V4

o Lo Smj :
) ' k/a/l le
) petter . [

! °°"‘dm;:x‘(err;\e is \iterally Tbﬂ 4 YQ(.I »

ort £ e =
D i’h‘l’«iz\ne"' xx
h will
5 10 hear, Sar@
That's great

e
sed and | agre
S 32\\11 P s amazing!t We

W Y X
will see you 8001

S0, S0 Much for all your help
Support, ol Cant Eaprend hows muieh
he does
See you soon. | hope &

2 Jurt Makng
uam/tl Jud y
XXX

. )
@ (ronmess @ 7

Page 34

22 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Women’s narrative, part 1

| started working with you and Pause 9 months ago and knew you from before because you were my Midwife. It was
really nice that | knew you and | think it made agreeing to be part of the project easier and less nervous for me. When
you explained the project to me | couldn’t believe all you could do for me and how much we could do together. | had no
one on my side at that point, no friends and even when | pushed you away you didn’t go anywhere. | had to push you
away because of AXXX in the end though.

‘When | first started working with you | wasn’t seeing him anymore, but | wasn’t seeing anyone else either because no
one wanted to know me. Seeing you once or twice a week, | looked forward to it so much!! | couldn’t believe | was
going to the café and having breakfast and you always made me laugh! But chatting to you was the best because you
really listen to me and you're never judgy. AXXX was constantly texting or calling trying to get back in with me, | couldn’t
tell you and | felt bad for lying to you but | know now | can tell you stuff because even if its bad you are still there and
you'll talk to me about it — you never lose your rag!

‘When | started seeing AXXX again | thought it was because | loved him and needed him but | ended up hating him so
much because he didn‘t like me going out with you or anyone. | had just started getting back on my feet and | hated
myself the most for letting him back in my life. You had helped me put a little pot of money by to get nice things for
myself and he spentit all on weed. Every day he would smoke it and all day too. If he didn't have it | had to find the
maney for it otherwise he was so horrible to me. He made me ask you for cash once, | was 5o pleased when you said no
bt offered to take me to the food shop instead, |d not eaten for days. | felt so crap for lying to you though, but | think
you knew what was going on. He would make me pick butts out of the ashtray and smoke them instead of a rollie we
had, wouldn't let me eat, push me around and onto the bed. | was so scared and miserable. When he beat me up really
bad outside the tower block my sister called you to tell you | was in hospital.

Women’s narrative, part 2

You called me straight away and started to help me. Sometimes you have been the only one to get me
and even when | muck up you'll still help me. My drinking came back bad again because | was too
scared to go back to the flat so had to stay with LXXX my sister (alcoholic), | remember you talking to me
about if it was a good place for me to be and making me think about it for myself. You then got me my
new flat, which is lush isn’t it?! And I've been to AA, learnt to cook (that was so much funl), made new
friends through the project and been to so many places especially the country parks with your doggys!
Best of all was the scrapbook you helped me make for Penny, | was hard work sometimes wasn't 17 But
you cracked on and every week asked me if | wanted to do it!

You, the project, Pause whatever, have helped me so much. I'm so much stronger now and can say no
to things | don't want to do or to people | don't want to be around. You have spent so much time and
effort on me, telling me about self worth, helping me to talk to my sister and mum and get my point
across atherwise | just agree when | don't, making me believe | do deserve a nice life. I've got a job now,
a really nice boyfriend a home and | can cook! | couldn’t of done it all without you!

I'm looking forward to mare day trips with the rest of the girls. | had a really good time at the zoo and |
didn’t think | would because it was a group thing. | want to do more cooking with you as well and go
horse riding with one of your other ladies. | like to positivity thing we do when we have café lunch too
as it helps me to feel good about myself.

I think every woman that's been through what | have should have a Pause worker like you, its not fair
that we don't get no support after!

Page 35 23 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 5: Pathways with other agencies and services

Whist there is a need for a post-care proceedings service to work with women that are at risk of
having multiple children taken into care, it is also essential that the service is integrated within the
system and has robust pathways in place with other key services. Rapid and/or appropriate access to
LARC (i.e. via sexual health services) and to services such as primary care, mental health, drugs and
alcohol, and housing support for example, will all determine how effective this intervention is in
supporting women to meet their multiple and complex needs.

Annex C describes the pathways that have been established to date for the current cohort of
women.

Recommendation to secure funding to enable rapid access to trauma-informed therapy

Whilst pathways are in place with mental health services, the Phoenix @ Pause team have identified
two issues that are currently impacting women from accessing the mental health intervention that
they require, which will also impact upon how far they are able to meet their other needs and
outcomes; as good mental health is key to all outcomes. The first issue or “unmet need” is the
availability of trauma informed therapy and the second is the lack of rapid access to appropriate
support. The identified needs of the women on the programme would be met by provision of
specialist personalised therapeutic support to address the impact of abuse and trauma. Currently
the women can’t access this support from the time that they begin engagement with the
programme (due to very long waiting lists and not always meeting the threshold for care), whilst
the IAPT pathway that has been established does enable timely access, the intervention is too “low
level” focussing on mild to moderate common mental illness such as depression, stress and anxiety
related disorders and is therefore not specific enough to the needs of these women. This
subsequent gap in rapid access to trauma informed therapy is widely acknowledged across
Southampton City and partners have been supportive in exploring ways to address this to improve
the emotional health of our women, which we know will lead to greater stability and improved
physical wellness.

In exploring what mental health interventions are appropriate and how much they cost, the
following have been identified:

Trauma informed therapy as an appropriate mental health intervention: The women engaged with
Phoenix @ Pause have a need to access trauma informed therapeutic support. Due to their life journey
they will need specialist support to aid their recovery and prevent further trauma. To have a child
removed is in itself highly traumatic, and we know that women who present with this repeated pattern
of removals will have undoubtedly experienced high scoring ACEs and are often likely to have suffered
serious sexual or physical childhood traumas, domestic abuse and very poor attachment,
developmental delay and many more life difficulties. Women who have experienced the complexity
of childhood ACEs often suffer poor mental health, a chaotic lifestyle and poor relationship choices,
substance misuse and many more manifestations of trauma, as is evidenced by the intelligence and
case studies in section 4.

To offer a compassionate and empathic trauma informed response in the form of therapy and psych-
educational intervention, with a client group that potentially holds such complexity, stability is the
foundation needed. Longer term counselling, group work both therapeutic and psycho educational is
often beneficial however this can only prove effective once a client has some stability and very strong

Page 36 24 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

motivation for change. Trauma is what happens inside of us due to something happening to us, and

so to successfully work with all contributing factors a pluralistic approach is paramount, a fluidity in
the therapy/ intervention provided is needed in order to accept the often-arising symptoms of trauma
responses, emotional dysregulation and distress.

A recommended package of a menu of therapeutic interventions based on an assessment of
personalised need would include both 1: 1 and group work, for example:

1-1 therapeutic intervention.

Therapeutic group for women who have experienced domestic abuse and would like to
explore ways of developing healthier and safer relationships.

Therapeutic group for women who experienced childhood sexual abuse seeking to explore
their thoughts and feelings in a group setting.

A psycho-educational group offering skills development to those who may be struggling to
manage strong feelings and emotions as a consequence of abusive experiences.

The estimated cost of a package of support to women is up to the value of: £71,288 per annum

£48,482per annum to enable the employment of a FTE Trauma informed Therapist who would be
ring-fenced for use by the Phoenix @ Pause programme only (includes on costs and clinical

supervision).

£8,250 for access to a therapeutic group for each cohort of woman during their engagement with

Phoenix @ Pause. This will provide more introductory therapy for up to 3 x cohorts (6 — 8 women)

per annum and will prepare them for further therapy

£14,600 for a Pause Trauma group which will allow for up to one session per week for 50 weeks per
year and provide 2 therapists to run the groups.

It is recommended that Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight CCG fund this package of
support per cohort of women to ensure that a robust mental health pathway offer of a menu of

therapeutic interventions based on a personalised assessment of need to address the impact of

abuse and trauma. This would be subject to full evaluation of activity, outcomes and impact.

Page 37 25 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 6: Finance: local cost-benefits and funding: Southampton

Current cost of the service and how it is being funded

The total cost of the Phoenix @ Pause service for a period of 21 months is £500,000, or £285k per
year. This is currently being funded as follows:

. £262,000 contribution from Pause (this will not be available in future years)
° £178,000 from Public Health — breakdown below

. £30,000 from SCC central finance pot

. £30,000 from what was Southampton CCG

Proposed funding for the service beyond 2021-22
Total cost: £285k per year, funded as follows:

. £142,500 from public health
. £142,500 from Children’s Services

It is proposed that the CCG funds the cost of trauma-informed therapy for Phoenix @ Pause
women to engage with at a cost of up to £71,288 per annum.

Financial modelling: local cost-benefits

The Pause costing tool** calculates the costs of supporting looked after children of a woman who has

already had two or more children removed into care.

Costs are captured from pre-birth until the infant is aged 4 years. The tool assumes the child is
removed at birth or in a mother-and-baby unit, and that removal is contested. Only costs relating to
the process of becoming a looked after child are considered, not any universal costs.

Unit costs are taken from published sources®, and costs are based on 2016/17 values and adjusted
for inflation. Time assumptions are based on Pause practice experience, taking a conservative
approach. Headline cost forecasting for Southampton is as follows.

Based upon the national Pause methodology, over 5 years a Pause service in Southampton would:
o Incur a cumulative delivery cost of £1,425,000 (based on £285,000 per annum).
o Avoid total cumulative costs of £6,444,076, which begin to accrue from Year 2.
o Confer a net cumulative cost avoidance of £5,019,076. This represents a cost-benefit ratio

of £4.52 for every £1 spent (or cashable cost-benefit, ignoring internal local authority costs,
of £3.19 for every £1 spent).

14 Bird MS, Cornish C, for Pause. Costing Tool: version 18, Sept 2020.
15 personal Social Services Research Unit (PSSRU) 2018; and New Economy Unit Cost Database 2015.

Page 38 26 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

The table and bar charts below depict delivery costs and total avoided costs, over a 5-year delivery

horizon of a Pause service in Southampton.

Timeline Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
f f f f f
Delivery cost 285,000 570,000 855,000 1,140,000 1,425,000
Costs avoided £ £ f f
(cumulative) 1,355,616 2,881,501 4,577,654 6,444,076
f f f f
Cost: Benefit 2.38 3.37 4.02 4.52
f f f f
Net cost saving 785,616 2,026,501 3,437,654 5,019,076
Costs avoided £ £ f f
(cashable, cumulative) 958,388 2,034,919 3,229,592 4,542,407
Cost: Benefit £ £ f £
(cashable) 1.68 2.38 2.83 3.19
Net cost saving £ £ £ £
(cashable) 388,388 1,179,919 2,089,592 3,117,407
Notes Practice went | This is the
live in intervention
September year - when the
2020 evaluation
(2020) shows us
we will be
seeing a
reduction of
14.4 children/
year going into
care
£7.M 6.44M
£6.M
£5.M 4.58M
f4.M
£3M 2.88M
£2.M 1.36M 114 1.43
f1.M .57M 86M
29M I Pause forecasting in
£.M Southampton: delivery costs
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 and total avoided costs,

Delivery costs (cumulative)

Page 39

W Avoided costs (cumulative)

modelled over a 5-year time
horizon

27 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

See Annex D (separate excel document) for a more detailed breakdown of the cost benefit analysis.

Cost avoidance in relation to health services

It has only been possible to include the costs to Children’s and LA services related to the removal of
children into care, as both national and local costings on use of health services and associated costs
are not comprehensive enough to include. The national evaluations of Pause (2017, 2020)
unfortunately also do not include information on the avoidance of health costs for both the LAC and
the women,; likely because this data is so difficult to obtain.

However, there are likely to be significant benefits to the NHS and health partners as suggested by
the evidence available:

e  Pause have observed an increase in women’s engagement — and planned engagement - with
health and related services. This includes engagement with substance misuse, domestic
violence, and mental health services. The Pause evaluation (2017) states that potential cost
avoidance from reductions in levels of domestic violencel6, harmful alcohol use, and Class A
drugs!’ after the 18-month period are between £100,500-£117,000 (though they state that
these estimates should be treated with caution as they are based upon women’s self-reported
outcomes).

e  Pause has also observed an increase in engagement with primary care; the majority of women
not being registered with a GP prior to Pause and all supported to register during the
programme. We know that good quality primary care has been linked to a reduction in
unplanned admissions®®,

e Areport on the costs of addiction to society estimates that the annual cost to society is over
£75,000 per family with substance misuse issues®. Given that 64% of women currently
participating in Phoenix @ Pause engage in drug use and 44% in alcohol use, supporting
women’s engagement with substance misuse services has the potential to create significant
cost avoidance for the system as a whole.

e  Children born to mothers using drugs and/or alcohol are more likely to be born pre-term, have
health needs, and experience prolonged hospital stays and readmissions. These will create
significant costs for the NHS. The cost of moderate (32-33+6) and late prematurity (32-36+6
wks) over the first two years of life are estimated to be £7,583 (moderate) and £1,963 (late) per
birth in societal costs, including healthcare®. This increases significantly where babies are born
before 31 weeks; one study estimating that the incremental cost per preterm child surviving to
18 years compared with a term survivor was estimated at £22,885. The corresponding
estimates for a very and extremely preterm child were substantially higher at £61,781 and
£94,740, respectively?l. As this study was published in 2009, today’s costs will be higher. The
largest costs were due to hospital inpatient costs after birth, which were responsible for 92% of
the incremental costs per preterm survivor.

16 Estimated using Pause records of self-reported incidents and estimated of annual repeat incidents. Cannot be proven
that reductions the result of the Pause programme.

17 Estimated using Pause records of self-reported outcomes and cost avoidance estimates. Cannot be proven that
reductions the result of the Pause programme.

18 Steventon et al. 2018. Briefing: Emergency hospital admissions in England: Which may be avoidable and how?
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/health/files/Briefing_Emergency%2520admissions_web_final.pdf

19 Addaction. 2012. A better future for families: The importance of family based interventions in tackling substance misuse.
See:
https://www.addaction.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/attachments/the_breaking_the_cycle_commission_2mb_0.pdf
20 Khan et al. 2015. Economic costs associated with moderate and late preterm birth: a prospective population-based
study. See: https://obgyn.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1471-0528.13515

21 http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/123/2/e312.long

Page 40 28 of 39


https://www.addaction.org.uk/sites/default/files/public/attachments/the_breaking_the_cycle_commission_2mb_0.pdf
https://obgyn.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1471-0528.13515
http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/123/2/e312.long

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

An All Party Parliamentary Group on FASD (2015) Initial report of the inquiry into the current
picture of Foetal Alcohol Syndrome Disease in the UK, highlights some of the costs (though they
remain unqualified) that are passed to the NHS: as children require input from a multi-
disciplinary team drawn from paediatrics, speech & language therapy, occupational therapy,
physiotherapy, psychology and psychiatry services, educational psychology, teaching / learning
support assistants. In addition, about one third have heart defects requiring surgery or on-going
treatment; a significant number have major dental issues, problems with their eyesight, bladder
problems requiring support from incontinence services and a proportion have walking
difficulties meaning they require wheelchair services. Those born with FASD are often born
premature, thus requiring specialist services at birth. Some have significant feeding difficulties
requiring them to be “tube fed”, which again costs in terms of specialist nursing, medical and
equipment all provided by the NHS. The report also quotes some Local Authorities as spending
up to £3,000/week per child to support their additional educational needs??.

2 Al Party Parliamentary Group on FASD (2015) Initial report of the inquiry into the current picture of FASD in the UK
today https://www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw 104720-4 0.pdf, p15.

Page 41 29 of 39


https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.basw.co.uk/system/files/resources/basw_104720-4_0.pdf__;!!NO-ljftdxW2aALo!DgkIrw11UDPf4YeSobB7Yvbu4d6baRdRmh6XjyowjrEjc5L4ukSE8Nh-mM8ZbHw9Rr3AXPG8sP0jTWM$

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Section 7: Options appraisal

It is necessary to make a decision on funding Phoenix @ Pause Southampton beyond the end date of
current funding, 15 March 2022. Sustaining the service in its current or similar form requires funding
from Dec 2021 to account for the (maximum) 16-week engagement period inherent to the Pause
model.

The following table outlines four mutually exclusive options to inform the decision on funding, with
an appraisal of advantages and disadvantages. The recommended option is Option 1.

Page 42 30 0f 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Options appraisal for Phoenix @ Pause Southampton beyond March 2022:

To note: The largest service cost across all options are staffing costs. If the staffing costs are reduced, this essentially means that either the number of women the service
can work with needs to reduce which in turn reduces the impact of the service and cost avoidance, OR case-load need to increase, which would impact upon the intensive

wrap around support package for each women and their progress in meeting their complex and multiple needs.

. L. Advantages Disadvantages
Option | Description Cost Proposal
(or points of consideration that are favourable) (or points of consideration that are unfavourable)
v’ Pause is known to be effective, providing it is run with x Existing staff contracts require review, given that £285k per year or | Recommend
high fidelity to the specified model. Independent national 18-month fixed-term contracts are currently in £500k for the 21
evaluations reported positive outcomes in 2017 and 2020 place. Extended contracts confer financial month
(including a 3-year follow-up period). No suggestion that commitment (e.g. pensions/severance programme
Rv) Southampton programme is differing markedly to other entitlement).
g national Pause practices: implying the model is/will be Substantial up-front financial spend, requiring
@ effective. funding for a least 2 years before cost avoidance
5 v’ Tried and tested by other LAs that remain committed to accrues.
the Pause programme; only one of the 21 Local Opportunity cost: funding the service means
Continue with Authorities that has bought into Pause has made a potential benefit from alternative investment is
. decision to discontinue a Pause programme to date, and foregone.
Phoenix @ . . . . . .
1 Pause as per the same Local Authority has recently recommissioned a Potential ethical concern around the conditionality
current P service via Pause. of agreeing to a ‘pause’ in pregnancy (typically

v’ Confers financial cost avoidance over the medium/long
term: invest-to-save approach to reduce budget pressures
in future years.

v’ Existing Southampton service in its current guise is
embedded, understood, and well-regarded by
stakeholders across the city.

v’ Continued association with strong Pause brand is
beneficial.

v’ Continued benefit from the existing multi-professional
Strategic Board, which has a whole-system overview and
raises key local issues.

service model

meaning agreement to use LARC).

Remaining a Pause practice would mean adhering
to the fidelity of the prescribed model, precluding
some flexibility, for example in:

- Working with men (fathers may continue to
experience complexities and feature in future
care proceedings);

- Eligibility criteria, such as engagement with the
service during the 16-week lead-in phase.

310f39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Option Description

vt abed

Advantages

(or points of consideration that are favourable)

v’ Avoids negative perception or publicity, associated with
explicitly divesting in a service with beneficial aims.

The cost of “buying into” and remaining a Pause practice is
£26k. Remaining a Pause practice would specifically confer
access to:

v" A dedicated women’s resource budget (£8,500),
with flexibility to use this as an emergency resource;

v" A designated Pause National Practice Lead trained in
coaching,
quality assurance and support, providing regular
supervision;

v" Trouble-shooting of operational and strategic
challenges, together with capturing of best practice,
and comms support.

v' Recruitment support in the event of staff departure;

v" A multi-component Pause practice and learning
programme, e.g. development days, training,
conferences and network links;

v' Bespoke tools and resources e.g. a banner and
comms pack;

v' Pause software (Apricot) to track progress and
outcomes, together with technical support;

v' Opportunities to access Next Steps events;

v"Innovation and development, including pilots.

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Disadvantages
g Cost

(or points of consideration that are unfavourable)

However, the above can be mitigated through for
example, establishing pathways with other services
such as Southampton’s “perpetrator programme”
which works with men.

Proposal

32 0f 39



Option

G abed

w

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21

Description

Continue but
as Phoenix
Team,
relinquishing
association
with national
Pause

Do nothing
(do not fund a
post-care
proceedings
service; take
no further
action)

Better utilise
other existing
services to
provide
assertive
outreach’

Advantages

(or points of consideration that are favourable)

v Likely to confer some of the general benefits of Option 1,
i.e. a degree of effectiveness in meeting overall objectives
with cost avoidance; links maintained with existing
stakeholders; avoidance of excess negative perception of
disinvestment.

v’ Up-front cost saving of Pause membership fee (£26,000)
relative to Option 1.

v’ Confers some added flexibility by removing barriers
associated with adherence to fidelity of Pause model.

v’ Staff knowledge and experience from the current service
can be harnessed.

v No upfront costs incurred; budget in the short-term can
be spent elsewhere.

v No further resource required to support business
planning for, and mobilisation, implementation,
monitoring and evaluation of a service.

v No upfront costs incurred.
v’ Services that would be utilised are already in place — no
setup required.

Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Disadvantages

(or points of consideration that are unfavourable)

x Benefits of association with the successful national

Pause model would be relinquished e.g. being part
of a wider network, training packages and events,
learning from other Pause services, being part of
national evaluation and research. The data systems
the national programme is able to provide are
superior to what we can do locally and allow us to
benchmark ourselves to the other pause
programmes and monitor effectiveness.

Only small difference in cost between Pause model
and bespoke model: since largest cost is staffing (no
positive benefit to cutting staff since fewer women
supported, reducing overall benefits).

Other general disadvantages are as per Option 1
(staff contracts, up-front spend, opportunity cost).

Multiple LAC, health and wellbeing, and invest-to-
save financial advantages, foregone. Do not see the
potential reduction in LAC rates and numbers.

High likelihood of not being viewed as a
preventative and forward-thinking decision.
Unwanted negative media attention from
divestment in service that supports vulnerable
residents.

Lack of capacity to engage women through (very)
assertive outreach and engagement over a
prolonged period of time via a dedicated service
and key worker. Current experience suggests that
without a dedicated team and worker this cohort of
women do not engage consistently and
comprehensively with existing services.

Cost

£270k per year or
£474 over the 21

month
programme

No cost

Would require
additional
investment as
there is not
capacity within
the system to
provide the

Proposal

Reject

Reject

Reject

330f 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

. L. Advantages Disadvantages
Option | Description Cost Proposal
(or points of consideration that are favourable) (or points of consideration that are unfavourable)

% Risk of unmet need if threshold(s) for individual assertive
service(s) are not met by the women who would outreach and
otherwise have been engaged. intensive support

% Unwanted negative attention from divestment in required
dedicated service that supports vulnerable
residents.

X Multiple LAC, health and wellbeing, and financial
cost avoidance benefits, foregone.

TWithin Option 4, existing sexual health, substance misuse, domestic violence, mental health, housing and other services would improve engagement with women at risk of repeat
removals in their services.

9t abed

34 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Appendices

Annex A: Background information on the national Pause programme — a licensed
programme

creating space
for change

How we work with women

Pause recognises the women with whom we work as individuals, rather than defining them by the
issues and challenges they face. Every Pause programme is driven by the woman and her needs.
The relationship between the woman and her Pause Practitioner is key. It is one which is secure,
consistent and predictable; a relationship where women are valued and respected for who they are.
They are encouraged to discover or uncover their individual identity, needs and aspirations. Pause
will encourage them to be actively involved in all parts of the programme, take supported risks to
learn new skills and have fun too.

This is different to the negative perspectives and language that many of the women will be used to
hearing about themselves. Pause focuses on achieving what, from the outside, might seem small
steps that offer a sense of value and worth but we know are giant strides forward for the women
themselves.

Each Practitioner works with between six and eight women, enabling them to give the time to focus
on each woman’s needs. The relationship is nurturing, but it is also challenging, a partnership to help
break destructive cycles and to work toward a more positive future.

Pause Practitioners understand that the relationship with the woman is not linear, that there will be
some bumps along the way. They are tenacious and going the extra mile is the norm. For example, if
a woman is no longer living at her usual address, her Practitioner will use her contacts and networks
to track her down and make sure she’s safe. If a woman is struggling to deal with particular service
providers, such as housing, her Practitioner will work with her to resolve the situation and to provide
her with the tools to manage the situation herself in the future.

Keeping the child in mind

At every stage, Pause Practitioners encourage the women to keep the child in mind. This does not
only mean those children that have been removed, but her own childhood too. The women who
work with Pause are encouraged, at their own pace, to talk about growing up; the strengths they
gained, the adversities they overcame and experiences that remain unresolved and interfere with
life. Finding compassion for the frightened, sometimes angry, child within can help women develop
empathy and insight into the impact their behaviour may have had on their child.

There is strong evidence that maintaining a relationship between parents and children who are in
foster care or have been adopted can have a positive influence on the stability of that placement.
Pause works with women to encourage contact, whether spending time together or through
exchanging letters.

The children of the women who work with Pause often live with extended family, or other primary
carers, and continue to see their birth mothers. Pause Practitioners support women to contain and

Page 47 350f 39


https://www.pause.org.uk/
https://www.pause.org.uk/
https://www.pause.org.uk/
https://www.pause.org.uk/
https://www.pause.org.uk/

DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

manage feelings, so contact sessions can be enjoyable, meaningful and memorable for children.
Seeing their birth mother recover from, or at least manage, difficulties can reduce stress in children.
This also models recovery and reparation when life has taken a difficult turn, which helps build
resilience in the child.

Pause encourages women to express their feelings and take responsibility for their actions. This
equips them with better skills to talk to their children as they grow older, and to help them to
understand their story. The women who work with Pause are encouraged and supported to take a
proactive role in giving their children ‘permission’ to settle and attach to the people looking after
them, which can relieve the child’s stress and guilt.

Women often say letterbox contact is too hard. Practitioners should explore further, suggesting for
example, that they write letters not to be sent, saying everything they feel and want to say but can’t.
This can be a beginning to help them then write a letter to send, that helps the child stay connected
to their birth identity.

Taking a break from pregnancy

We know that a programme like Pause is most effective when the woman has no children in her care
and she is in a position, sometimes for the first time, to focus on herself and her own needs.
Following the initial 16-week engagement phase, to ensure that the women are able to take a pause
from pregnancies, we ask them to use the most effective form of reversible contraception. Pause
Practices work closely with their local sexual health providers to ensure that the women make an
informed choice around contraception and that they are able to choose the most appropriate form
for them.

Therapeutic
Counselling
Drug & alcohol
support
Loss & grief ’ Practical
Past trauma ; ‘ Housing
Own childhood Benefits
Contact

D/ \

Self reflective Health needs

Taking responsibility GP & dental

A A

Systemic Education &

Personal employment
(e.g. partners) ' ‘ Literacy & numeracy
Professional o Ambition
contacts Activities
Fithess

Group work

Page 48 36 of 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Annex B: Further case study of a woman currently engaged with Phoenix @ Pause

Case study 2

Had 3 children removed — all children adopted.

Care Experienced having been Looked After from the age of 8. The parenting she received
was categorized as neglectful and she was sexually abused by her father, resulting in the
birth of a child.

Has been involved in relationships that have featured emotional and psychological abuse
and manipulation as well as sexual violence.

Has many ongoing chronic health conditions.

Progress since engaging with Phoenix @ Pause:

Registered with a GP and a dentist

On long acting reversible contraception

Engaged with 12 sessions of post-adoption counselling and is now being referred to Steps to
Wellbeing for additional work unrelated to the adoptions of her children.

Applied for her records so that she can begin processing her childhood experiences.
Attending bike riding sessions with Saints4Sports and working on losing weight and
improving her fitness.

Attending a computer literacy course and doing the Freedom Programme online with her
Practitioner.

Page 49 37 0f 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

Annex C: Pathways in place with Phoenix @ Pause

Sexual Health

A successful pathway has been established with Sexual Health. The service has a direct line to the
Lead Nurse to ensure practitioners can quickly arrange sexual health screenings or contraception
fittings. The Sexual Health service has been flexible, with increased understanding that many of the
women have had strained relationships with professionals and approaches need to alter to gain their
trust which leads to treatment.

Steps 2 Wellbeing

A specific person of contact has been achieved with Steps to Wellbeing. This is a high intensity
therapist, who completes the assessments with the Pause women and feeds back to Practitioners in
relation to treatment and needs. It has been discussed whether Steps to Wellbeing could offer more
than 6 sessions as their intervention where necessary, though this cannot be achieved due to the
remit of their service being to support mild-moderate depression and anxiety; many of our women
have therapeutic needs that go well beyond this level due to grief and loss combined with complex
childhood trauma.

Adult Services

Excellent relationships and pathways have been established with Adult Services. The Phoenix @
Pause service has been central in several Section 42 Safeguarding Enquiries. Adult Services have
granted the Phoenix Team permission for ‘read only’ access to Paris which enables Practitioners to
see when reports from other agencies such as the Police and Ambulance Service are received.
Positive work in place with the Employment Support Team, Street Homelessness Prevention Team
and the Homeless Healthcare Team.

Children’s Services

An internal briefing has been written to improve understanding of the Phoenix Team within
Children’s Services. There is a very good working relationship with the Adoption Service, which has
enabled engagement of women in Post-Adoption Counselling and improved letter box contact for
many of the women on the programme. The worker who oversees the letter box contact has
highlighted the difference having a Phoenix Practitioner has made to the engagement of parents
with the written exchanges, this is a goal for all women where this is a relevant. Future goals in the
relationships with Children’s Services will be for the wider workforce to understand what the Pause
Programme is, include the Practitioners in meetings and discussions, accept that the women do not
always consent for information to be shared with the allocated social worker for the child, and that
the Phoenix Service are involved in some way with the Legal processes within the council — this will
enable us to understand the ongoing level of recurrent Care Proceedings and the mothers who we
may well be working with in the future.

Housing

Women can lose their accommodation when their children are permanently removed and are often
placed in Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMQ'’s). We have observed these to be oppressive and
isolating for the woman, often exacerbating existing mental and physical health challenges. Many of
the houses are mixed male and female, this also causes a number of difficulties such as historical
trauma being triggered, which often can lead to increased risk taking and the use of substances as

Page 50 38 0f 39



DRAFT PAPER — to go to JCB for approval in Oct 21 Phoenix @ Pause Business Case

coping mechanisms. The service will be working with Housing colleagues to develop a fast track
pathway to their services and support, and will explore how rent arrears are managed and how
women qualify for a tenancy.

IDVA and MARAC

There are good working relationships with the IDVA team and the MARAC Chair, and evidence that
the safety of the Phoenix @ Pause women is improving. Phoenix @ Pause women are flagged on the
Police Database as being engaged with Pause so that the service receives notifications from the
Police when incidents have occurred with any of the women.

Police and Probation

The service has an established link with the Safeguarding Officer in MASH, who is also the Chair for
MARAC and HRDA for Southampton City Council. A data protection agreement is in place to
exchange the names of the women the service is working with and the Police Officer flags these
women on the Police Database, which triggers a notification to the Phoenix @ Pause service. In
relation to Probation, links are yet to be established and there is no representation from this agency
on the Phoenix @ Pause Southampton Strategic Board. Whilst not many of the 21 women are
engaged with Probation services, Probation could be working with the partners of the women and
for the interests of safeguarding and information sharing it would be highly beneficial to develop
professional relationships and pathways.

Page 51 39 of 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4

Equality and Safety Impact Assessment**""" ?

SOUTHAMPTO
CITY COUNCI

The public sector Equality Duty (Section 149 of the Equality Act) requires public
bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality
of opportunity, and foster good relations between different people carrying out their
activities.

The Equality Duty supports good decision making — it encourages public bodies to be
more efficient and effective by understanding how different people will be affected by
their activities, so that their policies and services are appropriate and accessible to all
and meet different people’s needs. The Council’s Equality and Safety Impact
Assessment (ESIA) includes an assessment of the community safety impact
assessment to comply with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act and will enable
the council to better understand the potential impact of the budget proposals and
consider mitigating action.

Name or Brief Phoenix @ Pause Southampton

Description of

Proposal

Brief Service A targeted service for women who have experienced
Profile repeat removals of children and are at risk of further
(including pregnancies (and removals) in the future.

number of

customers) The post-care proceedings support service is

underpinned by the ‘Pause: Creating Space for Change’
model which has been evaluated by the DfE in 2017
and 2020. Southampton City Council (Phoenix Team)
work in collaboration with the Pause charity to deliver
the preventative service to 24 women over an 18-month
period. During this time, all the women take a ‘pause’ in
pregnancy and use a form of Long Acting Reversible
Contraception (LARC) such as the implant, coil, or
contraceptive injection to prevent pregnancy, allowing

them time to focus upon themselves and their needs.

The criteria for any Pause Programme (Nationally) is

women aged 18-44, who are at risk of further pregnancy

Page 53



and removal, and have had 2 or more children removed

within the last 5 years.

The pilot service for the Phoenix @ Pause
Southampton Team went live in September 2020. There
are 19 women on the programme currently and the
service has worked with 56 women in total across the

13 months to date.

To note, within the initial scoping data there were 178
women who met the criteria for the Pause Programme
in August 2020. This means 178 women had their
children removed from their care at some point between
2018-2020 in Southampton City. 49 of those women
were shortlisted anonymously by risk, 19 remain on the

programme.

Summary of

This service will impact on women in Southampton City

Impact and who are at risk of having repeat pregnancies, whose

Issues lifestyles, choices and/or parenting would not be
considered safe and appropriate to keep a child safe,
and would likely lead to removal of a child.

Potential The service empowers women to protect themselves

Positive Impacts

against further pregnancies whilst taking time to
address their own needs, which are often highly
complex, and improve their physical and mental health

and wellbeing

Prevention of pregnancy in this cohort of women will
mean less children would be potentially removed to
Local Authority Care. This will have a direct impact on
the reduction of infant entries to care and the Care

Proceedings which follow.

Page 54




(non-exhaustive list).

Prevention of pregnancy and removal will result in
women and children not having to experience the deep
trauma caused by pregnancy and removal. This will
lead to the women having no additional trauma and the

opportunity to resolve existing trauma.

The service offers support to women in all areas of their
lives including sexual health, physical and mental
health, housing and accommodation, benefits and

money advice, safety, addiction, and substance abuse

Responsible
Service

Manager

Natalie Pearce

Date

27/09/2021

Approved by

Senior Manager

Steph Murray

Signature

Date

Potential Impact

for the programme. This
bracket is considered ‘child
baring age’ by Pause. The
service does not cover females
under 18 years of age which
could potentially leave this
group without support around
risk of pregnancies and removal
of children.

Impact Details of Impact Possible Solutions &
Assessment Mitigating Actions
Age Women aged 18-44 are eligible | Pause does not currently

work with women
younger than 18 as
Pause is an adult
intervention. Any women
who are 17 and under
would usually still be
linked with looked after
children (LAC) teams,
and a nomination to
approach her could be
made, but not until her
18t birthday. Women
who are under 18 would

Page 55




fall into local provision of
support in Southampton
provided by No Limits.

Disability All women who can become The service engages
pregnant will be eligible for the | with the Learning
service if they meet the criteria | Disability Team and
of having 2 or more children Adult Social Care to
removed permanently in the assist working with
past 5 years. women with additional

needs to enable the
Women with disabilities, both women to get the
physical and learning, need to maximum from the
be able to access the service Pause Programme.
and benefit from the support
provided.
Gender Pause works with women who | Pause has worked with

Reassignment

have or are at risk of their
child(ren) being removed and
works to break the cycle of
pregnancies leading to repeat
removals. In the case of male to
female (MTF) gender
reassignment, pregnancy would
not be a risk factor, so the
service would not benefit those
individuals. In the case of
female to male (FTM)
reassignment, the risk of
pregnancy is still a factor if the
individual has not undergone
gender reassignment surgery
which would impact their fertility
or ability to become pregnant.
Individuals with FTM
reassignment therefore need to
be able to access the service.

individuals who have
been exploring their
gender identity (FTM)
and would continue to
support them whilst they
still meet criteria and are
at risk for further
pregnancies that could
lead to a removal of the
child. Care will be taken
to safeguard these
individuals from any
transphobic behaviours
and language- both from
professionals and other
women accessing the
programme- and practice
teams will be led by the
person on their preferred
pronouns and name.
Advocacy and training
will be provided for
supporting these
individuals.

Marriage and
Civil
Partnership

Marriage or civil partnerships
are not anticipated to have
impact on the access to, or

Page 56




ability to benefit from the
programme.

Pregnancy
and Maternity

All women who can become
pregnant, along with the
meeting the additional criteria,
would be eligible for the
programme.

The only prerequisite element
for a woman to work with Pause
will be that they use long acting
reversible contraceptive (LARC)
or can evidence a firm desire to
take a Pause in pregnancy.
Women who do not wish to use
contraception are therefore
excluded and unable to benefit
from the service, unless there is
a medical reason for them
being unable to use
contraception.

The women are
supported to attend the
Sexual Health Clinic for a
full consultation on their
options for contraception
and sexual health. This
appointment is generally
without a Pause
Practitioner, however, at
the women’s request the
Practitioner can join the
consultation.

Race

Woman of all race will be able
to access the service (where
the Pause criteria is met).
However there may be lower
engagement and uptake in
women from ethnic minorities
and those who do not speak
English.

The Phoenix service
works with women of all
races. The service
welcomes nominations of
women living in
Southampton who have
had their children
removed from their care
from any agency, or the
women themselves.

The Local Authority in
Southampton provides
data on women who
have had their children
removed from their care
to the Phoenix Service,
these woman are
approached by the team
to offer a service.

Women who do not
speak English would be
offered support with an
interpreter and would be

Page 57




provided documents that
have been translated.

Pause rejects all forms of
racism and is committed
to the elimination of
racial discrimination.
Pause is also working to:

- Collect data within
the organisation
about those working
with and for Pause to
understand if they are
representative of the
communities they are
in and if not, why not.

- Seeking funding for
research into the
impact of race on the
women who work
with Pause and those
who are eligible
including barriers to
support.

- Better understanding
the needs of black
and brown women on
the Pause
programme and
ensuring we provide
them with the
support, information
and advice they
need, including about
their cultural heritage.

Pause teams will be
committed to working
alongside the National
Pause organisational
aims and challenging
racism and
discrimination in all its
forms

Religion or
Belief

Women with all Religions and
Beliefs will be able to access
the service (where the Pause
criteria is met). However, there

With regards to religion
and culture,
contraception will be
discussed sensitively

Page 58




may be elements of the
programme that have particular
cultural sensitivity.

within the parameters of
that person’s faith, and
specific support and
guidance will be obtained
from faith groups,
charities and the
woman’s own
community- where
appropriate and safe for
that woman. Where a
woman’s faith or culture
does not allow the use of
contraception, but an
intervention is still
appropriate, needed and
wanted, Pause will use
discretionary measures
to look at women on a
case by case basis.

Sex N/A

Sexual N/A

Orientation

Community The service has the intention of

Safety supporting women to reduce
risk in their lives and not
engage in risk taking
behaviours. We expect to see
an improvement in safety.

Poverty The Service has an allotted

amount of money called the
‘women’s resource’ which is
intended to assist the women
positively. This may be paying
off debt, rent arrears etc, it can
also be used for deposits for
appropriate accommodation.

The service support women in
addressing their finances and
budgeting to avoid poverty.

Page 59




Other
Significant
Impacts

The service should result in a
reduction of Children in Care
costs as well as costs
associated with the removal of
a child and the subsequent care
proceedings. Additionally, the
crisis lead care which the
women frequently access, such
as A&E and the Criminal
Justice System.

Page 60

Page 2 of 2




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting/ Action Tracker
	4 Phoenix @ Pause Southampton: Business case for a sustained service
	Appendix
	ESIA


